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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Providence City Hall was constructed in 1875-1878 from the
designs of Samuel F. J, Thayer, a Boston architect who won a competition
entered by twenty or more. It is a large free-standing rectangular
building, nine bays wide and thirteen bays deep, of iron and brick con-
struction faced with granite, and it stands at the end of an open plaza
in the city's downtown section. It is of three storeys above a high,
full-storey, basement and has an additional storey and attic space con-
tained within a high, angular mansard roof rising above a panelled eaves
parapet. Like many other public buildings of the post-1850 period in
this country and abroad, it was designed in the manner of the Louvre and
Tuileries Palaces in Paris, which were being enlarged and further elabo-
rated at this time (Franee's Second Empire). Official architecture
thus inspired was characterised by tall and wide fagades, conspicuously
articulated, and by imposing interior spaces, liberally ornamented.

The main or entrance front faces east, and its chief feature is its
centre pavilion surmounted by a high square dome of convex mansard form.
The walls are constructed of smooth-faced ashlar above the high basement
which is finished with horizontal rustication. The large, recessed,
rowd-arched main entrance portal of the central east pavilion is en-
framed by paired Tuscan columns on pedestals, carrylng a flat entablature
and forming an unpedimented aedicula. Leading up to this entrance from
sidewalk level (or one might say flowing down to sidewalk level) is a
perron whose curving sides, with panelled railings, widen with a flourish
towards the bottom, where there are two "triumphal" columns on ernamental
pedestals, intended as torchdres. Unemphasised window openings flank the
main entrance at both basement and first-storey levels. Surmounting the
entrance is another aedicula.with paired columns supporting a pediment
which lets into the parapet banding the roof; this enframement contains
a two-storey round-headed window and is flanked by similar windows.
Further above, beneath the bulging mansard dome, is a fourth or true
attic storey with paired round-headed windows between pilasters (the
centre pair was originally sheltered by a small pedimented portico).
Finally, above an entablature, comes the dome with ornamental copper-
work at its base and crest and with ornamental copper bull's-eye dormers.
Other features of this fagade are the groupings in the end. pavilions of
tall, tripartite windows, seprated by columns, on the secomd floor, with
bull's eye windows above in the third floor; further above, three-part
dormers (a 191L change from the original design) in the mansard break
through the eaves parapet.

On all four sides the building is horizontally divided at basement,
first-floor, second-floor and e aves lévels by mouldings, belt courses
and of eourse the main cornice. However, on its sides and rear the
building is much plainer in.composition and is given elaboration only at

its corners, where the tall, tripartite window and column treatment used

on the east front is repeated. These elevations otherwise have simple,
regularly-spaced ranges of plain windows at each floor 1ev§} and~;ifgg,

e

but plain, arched entrances centered at streef I®9&f., "~ ..o

(See continuation sheet)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Samuel F. J. Thayer, architect of the Providence City Hall, was
a lifelong resident. of Boston and of course knew well Bryant and
Gilman's Boston City Hall of 1866, which "set off a nation-wide pro-
gramme of public building in the Second Empire mode." To-day, few of
these buildings remain: the o0ld Boston City Hall, that of Philadelphia,
the St. Louis Post Office, the Executive Office Building and the first
Corcoran Gallery in Washington are the best known among the few sur-

- vivors. As they had been doing for some time, Americans were still

turning to Europe for artistic inspiration, and they wWere turning there
for guidance in architectural taste during the years when Napoleon III
was re-using and inflating French E¥EI-Century styles. At its dedi-
cation the Providence City Hall was lauded as an equal of the great
civic buildings of "the continent," and an engraving of the Hdtel de
Ville in Paris was included in the souvenir pamphlet.

From the first the Providence City:Hall was thought of as a very
important structure; much interest was expressed, even outside Provi-
dence. Competitors included Charles B. Atwood, Ware and Van Brunt,

T. M. Clark, McKim and Mead, Both the Architectural Sketch Book and
the American Architect and Building News published articles on the
competition and on‘TﬁEﬁer's winning design and his ideas for interior
decoration., The Providence City Hall took place among the important
buildings of its era; it holds place as an important relic of them.

Architecturally valuable in itself, the building is visually en-
hanced by its siting at one end of a long plaza, the only green and
planted "park" in the city's downtown area. At the opposite end of
this plaza, to the east, is located the later, handsome Federal Build-
ing (which about matches the City Hall in height and width of elevation);
the spread-out complex of the railroad station closes the north side,
while the south side is walled by tall modern business buildings. The
area remains the core of governmental, commercial and financial acti-
vity. Thus, in design and in placement the City Hall is an architec-
tural landmark of Providence and a sort of anchor which keeps coherent-
ly, in pleasing visual order, a very important downtown space. This

(See Continuation Sheet.)
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To Description

Entering from the east portal at first-floor level, one passes through
a monumental barrel-vaulted hall and sees ahead the dramatic upward sweep
of the great marble staircasej which rises in one long run to a landing
where it divides into two shorter lateral runs terminating at the second
floor. Interior accommodation is laid out around the stair court, which
rises sixty feet to a barrel-vaulted skylight. Corridors, or galleries,
twelve feet wide, extend entirely around this court on all floors; all of
the principal rooms open off these galleries. On the first floor, the
mayor's suite is at the north-east and the offices of other important offi-
cials at the south-east. On the second floor, the two-storey-high council
chamber occupies a large central space at the front of the building.

Much of the original interior decoration remains, including panelled
and incised waingcoting of light-coloured wood, etched glass lights in
many doors, polished granite columns, cast-iron stair balusters carrying
a brass hand-rail. The walls of the mayor's office are of plaster relief
in an intricate vine pattern somewhat resembling a pressed-leather design,
and the plaster ceiling there has a more open floral pattern, also in
relief,

The council chamber is decorated with the same light-coloured wood
wainscoting as elsewhere, and paired pilasters with gold stencilling at
top and bottom are spaced along the walls, Above the main entrance a
spectators! balcony is supported on two pairs of Ionic columns. The ceil-
ing is decorated with concentric rings of gold stencilling. Trim is
simpler in the numerous offices, meeting-rooms etc. occupying the remainder
of the building.

8. Significance,

remarkably well-built and well-preserved bullding is a fine and vigorous
momument to the XIX-Century flourishing of its city and to the dominant
architectural style of its era, both in this country and elsewhere. By
itself it is worthy of preservation, and the disappearance of so many com-
panions of its era seconds the motion for preservation.
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